#### Critical role for BRCA1 expression as a marker of chemosensitivity response and prognosis

# Paola De Luca<sup>1</sup>, Adriana De Siervi<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Laboratory of Molecular Oncology and New Therapeutic Targets, Institute of Biology and Experimental Medicine (IBYME-CONICET), Buenos Aires, Argentina

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Preclinical studies for DNA damage-response in BRCA1-linked tumors
- 4. Preclinical studies for mitotic inhibitors-response in BRCA1-linked tumors
- 5. Preclinical studies for PARP inhibitors-response in BRCA1-linked tumors
- 6. Clinical management of patients associated to BRCA1
  - 6.1. Breast cancer
  - 6.2. Ovarian cancer
  - 6.3. Endometrial and uterine cancer
  - 6.4. Lung cancer
  - 6.5. Esophageal and gastric cancer
  - 6.6. Prostate cancer
- 7. Conclusions
- 8. Acknolwledgement
- 9. References

#### **1. ABSTRACT**

Chemotherapy is still the leader option for cancer treatment. Nevertheless some patients develop chemotherapy resistance. One major research goal is to identify the critical genes involved in chemotherapy response to predict the best therapy option for patients. Germline mutations in the BReast Cancer susceptibility gene (BRCA1) are associated to increased risk of developing breast, ovarian and other types of cancers. However, due to harmful BRCA1 gene mutations are relatively rare in the general population, nowadays most researchers focused on BRCA1 expression downregulation and/or epigenetic inactivation in sporadic tumors as a prognosis tool for chemotherapy response in patients. Chemotherapy response can be dramatically different depending on BRCA1 expression status, tumor type and drug. Hence, the chemotherapy response could be dissimilar in breast, ovarian, uterine, prostate, esophageal, gastric and lung cancers. Additionally, differential BRCA1 expression in sporadic tumors shows different response to DNA-damaging agents, mitotic inhibitors or PARP inhibitors. In this review we will examine the response to different chemotherapy agents in several cancer types depending on BRCA1 expression status.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

The use of chemotherapeutics remains the predominant option for cancer therapy. However, one of the major problems for successful cancer

therapy using these drugs is that patients often do not respond or eventually develop resistance after initial treatment. Therefore identification of genes involved in chemotherapeutic response is critical to predict tumor evolution and treat drug-resistant patients.

Mutations in *BReast Cancer susceptibility* gene (*BRCA1*) are responsible of 50% of inherited breast cancers and are associated to increased risk of developing breast and ovarian cancers and poor clinical outcome in prostate cancer (1-5). Though somatic mutations in BRCA1 are rare; BRCA1 mRNA and protein are down-regulated by epigenetic mechanisms in approximately 30% of sporadic breast cancers and 70% of ovarian cancers, but also occur in prostate, lung and other cancer types (6-8).

BRCA1 is implicated in multiple biological processes such as DNA damage response, transcriptioncoupled DNA repair, cell cycle and apoptosis (9-11). Due to its role on these cellular processes, BRCA1 is considered a key player that establishes chemotherapy sensitivity and should be considered for patient management. Hence, several researchers had been using pre-clinical and clinical studies to clarify BRCA1 role in response to DNA-damaging agents and other types of chemotherapy agents (12,13).

Chemotherapy drugs can be divided into several groups based on their mechanism of action, their chemical

structure, and their relationship to other drugs. Understanding how these drugs work is important in predicting side effects, efficacy and probable combination with other compounds for cancer therapy in patients. For instance, DNA-damaging agents, including alkylating compounds, directly damage the DNA to prevent cancer cells division. The platinum drugs (cisplatin, carboplatin and oxalaplatin) and antimetabolites (drugs that interfere with DNA and RNA replication: 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), 6-mercaptopurine (6-MP), hydroxyurea, methotrexate, etc) can be included into this group. Anthracyclines are anti-tumor antibiotics that interfere with enzymes involved in DNA replication. These drugs are also DNA-damaging agents, and consist of: daunorubicin, doxorubicin, epirubicin, idarubicin. Other anti-tumor antibiotics that are not anthracyclines include: actinomycin-D, bleomycin, mitomycin-C and mitoxantrone. Topoisomerase inhibitors interfere with the enzymes that help separate the strands of DNA so they can be copied, called topoisomerases. There are topoisomerase I inhibitors (topotecan and irinotecan) and topoisomerase II inhibitors (etoposide and mitoxantrone). Mitotic inhibitors are often plant alkaloids and other compounds derived from natural products. Examples of mitotic inhibitors include anti-microtubule agents, like taxanes (paclitaxel and docetaxel), epothilones and vinca alkaloids (vinblastine, vincristine and vinorelbine). Other agents are Polv(ADPribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors that primarily inhibit the PARP-1 and PARP-2 enzymes within the cell. Clinically, PARP inhibitors demonstrated activity in tumors which lack a functional HR system (BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations) by forcing NHEJ repair. Several authors had reviewed BRCA1 role in chemotherapy response through the use of BRCA1 mutated cells. In addition, clinical studies have been carried out mainly in patients carrying mutations on the BRCA1 gene. However due to the low rate of BRCA1 mutations in the general population, nowadays the challenge is to understand the effect of BRCA1 expression downregulation and/or epigenetic inactivation in chemotherapy outcome in different populations and tissues.

Early studies using BRCA1 expression modulation showed that BRCA1 increases DNAdamaging agent resistance and anti-microtubule poisons sensitivity. However, afterward several studies showed the opposite response: BRCA1 loss of function increases DNA-damaging agents sensitivity. All these "contradictory" effects can be explained mostly if we take into account tissue type and different genetic background.

Hence BRCA1 expression status in different cancer types might be crucial to select the most efficient therapeutic strategy for patients. In this review we will examine the response to different chemotherapy agents in several cancer types depending on BRCA1 expression status. We will focus on BRCA1 expression role in DNAdamaging agents, anti-microtubule drugs and PARP inhibitors.

## 3. PRECLINICAL STUDIES FOR DNA DAMAGE-RESPONSE IN BRCA1-LINKED TUMORS

Preclinical and clinical data indicate that BRCA1 modulates the response to chemotherapeutic agents. First studies assessing BRCA1 role in response to DNA-damaging agents concluded that BRCA1 loss of function leads to increased sensitivity of tumor cells to DNA-damaging agents, such as cisplatin, bleomycin and etoposide (6,14-17).

Although most of these conclusions were obtained using BRCA1-mutated cells, other studies showed similar results after BRCA1 expression modulation. Thus, for example, *in vivo* studies using mice determined that breast tumors without BRCA1 and p53 expression showed increased sensitivity to double strand DNA damaging agents, olaparib and/or topotecan compounds (18). Additionally, it was observed that BRCA1 downregulation in MES (mice embryonic stem cells) showed an increased sensitivity to alkylating agents, such as mitomycine C and cisplatin (19). Moreover, the restitution of BRCA1 expression in MEF turned cells resistant to platinum derived agents (20).

Other authors using *in vitro* and *in vivo* research reported that BRCA1 hypermethylation in UACC3199 and HCC-38 cells conferred high sensitivity to platinum compounds (21). While the BRCA1 unmethylated and non-mutated cell line MDA-MB-231 showed increased resistance to these agents (21). Finally, in a screening to discover modulators of resistance to cisplatin, Husain *et al.* (16) found that resistance to cisplatin in MCF7 breast cancer cells induced by *in vitro* chronic exposure to this drug was associated to an increase in BRCA1 expression levels.

The concept of BRCA1 as a positive modulator of DNA damaging agents sensitivity is consistent with its function in DNA damage repair. Thus, cells with functional BRCA1 could be more efficient in double strand breaks repair by homologous recombination, then cancer therapy for BRCA1 defective patients could be improved by the administration of DNA damaging agents (13). However, opposite to this concept, other studies showed that BRCA1 expression increased sensitivity to DNAdamaging agents in other cell types. For instance, breast and prostate BRCA1 defective tumor cells are resistant to doxorubicin (22,23). Likewise, other in vitro studies demonstrated that breast cancer cells with BRCA1 diminished expression showed increased resistance to the topoisomerase II inhibitor, etoposide (14.24), Additional studies showed that BRCA1 increases sensitivity to doxorubicin, camptotecin and taxol in prostate cancer cells (25). Although these results seems to be contradictory, BRCA1 complexity and its numerous biological functions make reasonable the possibility that

BRCA1 final effect in chemotherapy sensitivity will be highly dependent of the tissue, its genetic background, the administrated drug and its multiple mechanism of action.

## 4. PRECLINICAL STUDIES FOR MITOTIC INHIBITORS-RESPONSE IN BRCA1-LINKED TUMORS

Anti-microtubule agents showed DNAdamaging agents opposite effect in BRCA1 mutated cells. Preclinical and clinical studies demonstrated that loss of BRCA1 causes cancer cells resistance to anti-microtubule agents, such as paclitaxel and docetaxel (26-31). Other authors demonstrated that BRCA1 increased sensitivity to taxol and other taxol derivates such as paclitaxel and vincristine (14,32). Tassone et al. assigned a positive role to BRCA1 in sensitivity to paclitaxel and doxorubicin in breast cancer cells (22). Additionally, it was reported that BRCA1 loss increases tamoxifen (Estrogen Receptor antagonist) sensitivity (33). Thus, depending on the type of chemotherapeutic compound, BRCA1 can have either a positive or a negative role in mediating chemosensitivity.

## 5. PRECLINICAL STUDIES FOR PARP INHIBITORS-RESPONSE IN BRCA1-LINKED TUMORS

Mounting evidence showed that BRCA1 and BRCA2-deficient cells are hypersensitive to PARP inhibitors, suggesting that these agents can be employed as novel therapeutic drugs to selectively treat BRCA1- or BRCA2-deficient tumors (34-36). Furthermore, several authors have recently found that BRCA1 CpG island hypermethylation predicts sensitivity to PARP inhibitors (21,37,38).

### 6. CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF PATIENTS ASSOCIATED TO BRCA1

Identification of high-risk patients is the main concern in cancer prevention. Genetic mutations associated to cancer development are an evident marker for risk. Much effort has been made to reduce cancer mortality in this group of patients. However, is interesting that the gene mutations most commonly accountable for inherited cancers are not found in a large amount of cases in the general population, even when they share the clinical criteria for having inherited cancer (39). Hence, epigenetic alterations can explain for a significant proportion of cancers with the clinical/pathological features but not the characteristic mutations of inherited cancers.

Based on the critical BRCA1 role in determining sensitivity to chemotherapeutic agents, several clinical trials have been carried out in BRCA1-mutated patients. Early studies were consistent with a role of BRCA1 influencing DNA-damage agents and PARP inhibitors response. In fact numerous retrospective clinical studies support the pre-clinical data and demonstrated a notable increase in response to DNA damage-based therapy in BRCA1-linked breast and ovarian cancer (40-45). PARP inhibitors clinical trials have shown strong antitumor activities in breast, ovarian and prostate cancers with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations (46). Thus, these agents are the most established example of gene-mutation dependent cancer therapy. However, due to the low rate of mutations in BRCA1, most of these studies were performed in Ashkenazi's population. Hence, BRCA1 is confined to a small subset of patients. Nowadays, the challenge is to understand the effect of BRCA1 expression modulation and/or epigenetic inactivation in a population without BRCA1 mutations. Thus, chemotherapy outcome can be also extensive to different ethnics and also independent of BRCA1 mutation status.

Next sections will discuss the latest findings in clinical trials and retrospective studies regarding BRCA1 expression effects in breast and ovarian cancer chemotherapy response but also uterine, prostate, esophageal, gastric and lung cancers.

### 6.1. Breast cancer

*BRCA1* gene can undergo epigenetic inactivation in sporadic breast tumors (21,47-51) and ovarian tumors (50,52,53) by DNA methylation on its CpG island promoter sites. Specifically, BRCA1 promoter hipermethylation was identified in 9-32% of sporadic breast cancers (50,54,55). BRCA1 promoter methylation is associated with decreased expression of ER and basallike phenotype (47,54). In addition, studies performed in Taiwanese breast cancer patients showed that BRCA1 promoter methylation correlates with triple-negative (ER-/PR-/HER2-) status and poor disease-free survival in women with breast cancer early-stage (56).

Interestingly, recent clinical studies revealed that BRCA1 could have a dual role in chemotherapy outcome in breast cancer increasing or diminishing sensitivity to chemotherapeutic agents according to the tumor subtype: patients with triple negative breast cancer might have more benefits receiving adjuvant chemotherapy when BRCA1 promoter is methylated, while in non-triple negative breast cancer patients BRCA1 methylation could be an unfavorable predictor for adjuvant therapy (57,58). Indeed, Xu et al performed a retrospective analysis in 1,163 unselected breast cancer patients to correlate BRCA1 promoter methylation with adjuvant therapy response (57). They found that the subgroup of triple-negative breast cancer patients treated with adjuvant therapy (anthracyclines followed by paclitaxel or methotrexate plus cyclophosphamide and 5-fluorouracil) had increased disease free survival rate when BRCA1 promoter was methylated (57). However

they found that BRCA1 methylation had the opposite effect in non-triple negative breast cancer (57).

Similarly, Ignatov *et al.* observed that BRCA1 promoter methylation correlated with decreased BRCA1 expression and increased disease free survival in triple negative breast cancer patients receiving adjuvant anthracycline-based therapy (58). Furthermore in non triple negative breast cancer patients, BRCA1 methylation did not improve any clinical or pathologic parameter (58).

Finally clinical studies performed to explore the effect of BRCA1 expression on tumor response to taxanebased chemotherapy showed shorter time to disease progression in patients with BRCA1 depleted tumors than in BRCA1 expressing tumors, suggesting that BRCA1 is a good prognostic marker of patient progress with advanced breast cancer undergoing taxane-based therapy (59).

#### 6.2. Ovarian cancer

BRCA1 expression is a well known prognostic and predictive marker in ovarian cancer. Thus, it was reported that low levels of BRCA1 expression are an indicator of better chemotherapy response in patients (60-62).

In ovarian cancer, clinical studies tend to confirm the classic concept of BRCA1 expression as a negative factor in DNA damaging agents-based chemotherapy. Thus, BRCA1 promoter hypermethylation is associated with BRCA1 expression decreases and, in turn, increases time to relapse and overall survival in patients with ovarian cancer treated with cisplatin (21). Other studies confirm these results; a study using a cohort of 292 patients showed that sporadic epithelial ovarian cancer patients have high chance of clinical response to chemotherapy compared with patients' absent/low BRCA1 expression regardless of treatment received (62). Moreover, absent/low BRCA1 expression in patients treated with platinum as chemotherapy had a better clinical response compared to patients with higher BRCA1 levels (62).

Furthermore, another study performed in epithelial ovarian cancer patients, showed that decreased BRCA1 expression is associated with improved survival when treated with intraperitoneal cisplatin and paclitaxel chemotherapies (63). Also patients with serous ovarian cancers had higher platinum sensitivity and longer progression-free survival when their tumors express high levels of miR-9 which correlates inversely with BRCA1 expression (64).

In agreement with these findings, it was reported that BRCA1-mutated patients show the opposite effect in chemotherapy response which might be explained by secondary mutations that restitute BRCA1 functionality. In fact, Swisher *et al* studied the occurrence of secondary genetic changes in BRCA1 that restored the reading frame of BRCA protein. They showed that 4 out of 6 recurrent platinum resistant tumors developed secondary mutations while none of platinum-sensitive recurrent tumors developed BRCA1 sequence alteration (65).

### 6.3. Endometrial and uterine cancer

Germline mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2 have been implicated in the pathogenesis of endometrial cancer. One of the strongest evidence of this is a recent cohort study performed following 4,456 women with a BRCA1 or a BRCA2 mutation with endometrial cancer (66). This work showed that BRCA1 mutation carriers have a higher risk of endometrial cancer compared to the general population. Additionally, it was reported that BRCA1 mutation carriers with breast cancer that received tamoxifen treatment showed increased risk of endometrial cancer (66,67).

A particular cancer of the endometrium is uterine serous papillary carcinoma (USPC). Although this tumor originates in the endometrium, it shares similarities with serous papillary carcinoma of the ovary or the peritoneum. Furthermore, USPC responds to agents that are being used for carcinoma of the ovary and the peritoneum (68).

Thus, USPC could be considered a manifestation of the hereditary breast ovarian cancer syndrome, so studies in BRCA1 mutated carriers were performed to elucidate if BRCA1 is a risk factor for this disease. In fact, several authors showed a high rate of BRCA1 germinal mutations in Jewish patients with USPC compared to BRCA1 mutation incidence in general population (69-72).

BRCA1 expression effect of BRCA1 in uterine cancer has been subject of study in the last years. Recently it has been shown that the effect of BRCA1 expression on uterine serous carcinoma is similar to that observed in high grade serous ovarian cancer: low levels of BRCA1 are associated to a favorable prognostic (73). Therefore, BRCA1 expression could have implications in the clinical management of USPC patients. Regardless, this is an unexplored topic and further studies are needed to determine BRCA1 role in chemotherapeutic response in uterine cancer.

### 6.4. Lung cancer

Several studies have clearly stated BRCA1 as a prognostic marker in non small cells lung cancer (NSCLC). Interestingly, BRCA1 overexpression has been linked to poor survival in NSCLC patients (7).

Since BRCA1 expression has previously associated with differential sensitivity to cisplatin and antimicrotubule agents, the use of adjuvant therapies

with cisplatin has been taken into consideration for NSCLC patients. Recently Qin *et al* and Xian-Jun *et al* demonstrated that BRCA1 mRNA expression is associated with short progression free survival and overall survival of NSCLC patients treated with platinum-based chemotherapy suggesting that in this subset of patients BRCA1 decreases sensitivity to platinum agents (74,75).

Similar results were obtained with neoadjuvant gemcitabine/cisplatin chemotherapy. NSCLC patients with tumors with high BRCA1 expression showed shorter overall survival and progression free survival compared to low BRCA1 mRNA levels patients reflecting a worse therapeutic outcome for the first ones (6). Interestingly, Wang *et al* found that BRCA1 expression is negatively correlated with sensitivity to cisplatin but positively related to sensitivity to docetaxel (76).

Finally a meta-analysis confirmed that BRCA1 low levels are related to better clinical outcome to platinum based therapy. Meanwhile BRCA1 high expression correlates to a better response to toxal based treatment (77).

#### 6.5. Esophageal and gastric cancer

BRCA1 expression is a known marker of prognosis and response to therapy in esophageal cancer. In this cancer type BRCA1 overexpression diminished chemotherapy sensitivity. Indeed recent findings showed that advanced and metastatic esophageal cancer patients with low expression of BRCA1 had increased response rate to cisplatin alone or in combination with radiotherapy. However, the opposite effect was observed in patients treated with docetaxel based therapy where BRCA1 expression improved therapy outcome (78). Previous studies demonstrated that BRCA1 is also relevant in chemotherapeutic response in gastric cancer. Patients without BRCA1 expression showed prolonged overall survival and better prognosis when receiving platinum based adjuvant chemotherapy (8).

#### 6.6. Prostate cancer

Previous studies demonstrated that male BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers have an increased risk of develop prostate cancer (79-81). Other authors correlated BRCA mutation with clinical features and found that BRCA1 mutation may be associated to aggressiveness disease, including higher Gleason score, higher prostate-specific antigen (PSA) level at diagnosis, and higher tumor stage and/or grade at diagnosis, a finding that warrants consideration as patients undergo cancer risk assessment and genetic counseling (http:// www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/pdq/genetics/prostate/ HealthProfessional/page3#section 3.2.8) (3,4,82). Prostate cancer BRCA mutation carriers respond less well to conventional treatment, including surgery and/or radiotherapy and they also have a lower survival rate

than BRCA1 mutation non carriers (83). Moreover, PARP inhibitors are currently in clinical trials for the treatment of prostate cancer (83). However, still there are no clinical data exploring the role of BRCA1 expression in chemotherapy outcome for prostate cancer patients. Future studies exploring this field might improve therapies for this group of patients.

## 7. CONCLUSIONS

BRCA1 expression diminution, as observed in some sporadic cancers, is important in modulating tumor response to chemotherapy. The concept of BRCA1 as a positive modulator of DNA damaging agent sensitivity is consistent with its function in DNA damage repair. Hence, cells with functional BRCA1 could be more effective in double strand breaks repair by homologous recombination, then cancer therapy for BRCA1 defective patients could be improve by the administration of DNA damaging agents.

General trend in the literature is that BRCA1 loss of function increases chemotherapy sensitivity in cell lines, thus BRCA1 mutation carrier patients will show higher sensitivity to these agents. However, several *in vivo* results using animal models concluded that BRCA1 depletion increases DNA damaging agent resistance.

Although this results seems to be contradictory, BRCA1 complexity and its numerous biological functions makes reasonable the possibility that BRCA1 final effect in chemotherapy sensitivity will be highly dependent and specific of the tissue, its genetic background and also the compound and its multiple mechanism of action.

### 8. ACKNOLWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to report that no conflicts of interest exist with regards to this manuscript.

### 9. REFERENCES

- King MC, Marks JH, Mandell JB. Breast and ovarian cancer risks due to inherited mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. *Science*. 302:643-6 (2003) DOI: 10.1126/science.1088759 PMid: 14576434
- Douglas JA, Levin AM, Zuhlke KA, Ray AM, Johnson GR, Lange EM, Wood DP, Cooney KA. Common variation in the BRCA1 gene and prostate cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*.16:1510-6 (2007) DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-07-0137 PMid: 17585057 PMCid: PMC3082399

- Gallagher DJ, Gaudet MM, Pal P, Kirchhoff T, Balistreri L, Vora K, Bhatia J, Stadler Z, Fine SW, Reuter V, Zelefsky M, Morris MJ, Scher HI, Klein RJ, Norton L, Eastham JA, Scardino PT, Robson ME, Offit K. Germline BRCA mutations denote a clinicopathologic subset of prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* 16:2115-21 (2010) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-2871 PMid: 20215531 PMCid: PMC3713614
- Agalliu I, Gern R, Leanza S, Burk RD. Associations of high-grade prostate cancer with BRCA1 and BRCA2 founder mutations. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2009;15:1112-20. DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1822 PMid: 19188187 PMCid: PMC3722558
- Miki Y, Swensen J, Shattuck-Eidens D, Futreal PA, Harshman K, Tavtigian S. A strong candidate for the breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1. *Science*. 1994;266:66-71. DOI: 10.1126/science.7545954 PMid: 7545954
- Taron M, Rosell R, Felip E, Mendez P, Souglakos J, Ronco MS, Queralt C, Majo J, Sanchez JM, Sanchez JJ, Maestre J. BRCA1 mRNA expression levels as an indicator of chemoresistance in lung cancer. *Hum Mol Genet*.13:2443-9 (2004) DOI: 10.1093/hmg/ddh260 PMid: 15317748
- Rosell R, Skrzypski M, Jassem E, Taron M, Bartolucci R, Sanchez JJ, Mendez P, Chaib I, Perez-Roca L, Szymanowska A, Rzyman W, Puma F, Kobierska-Gulida G, Farabi R, Jassem J. BRCA1: a novel prognostic factor in resected non-small-cell lung cancer. *PLoS One*. 2:e1129 (2007) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001129 PMid: 17987116 PMCid: PMC2042516
- Chen W, Wang J, Li X, Li J, Zhou L, Qiu T, Zhang M, Liu P. Prognostic significance of BRCA1 expression in gastric cancer. *Med Oncol.* 30:423 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/s12032-013-0498-7 DOI: 10.1007/s12032-012-0423-5 PMid: 23292835
- Deng CX. BRCA1: cell cycle checkpoint, genetic instability, DNA damage response and cancer evolution. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34:1416-26 (2006)

DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkl010 PMid: 16522651 PMCid: PMC1390683

- El-Deiry WS. Transactivation of repair genes by BRCA1. *Cancer Biol Ther.* 1:490-1 (2002) DOI: 10.4161/cbt.1.5.162 PMid: 12496474
- Mullan PB, Quinn JE, Harkin DP. The role of BRCA1 in transcriptional regulation and cell cycle control. *Oncogene*. 25:5854-63 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209872 PMid: 16998500
- Imyanitov EN, Moiseyenko VM. Drug therapy for hereditary cancers. *Hered Cancer Clin Pract.* 9:5 (2011) DOI: 10.1186/1897-4287-9-5 PMid: 21819606 PMCid: PMC3171323
- Murray MM, Mullan PB, Harkin DP. Role played by BRCA1 in transcriptional regulation in response to therapy. *Biochem Soc Trans*. 35:1342-6 (2007) DOI: 10.1042/BST0351342 PMid: 17956347
- Quinn JE, Kennedy RD, Mullan PB, Gilmore PM, Carty M, Johnston PG, Harkin DP. BRCA1 functions as a differential modulator of chemotherapy-induced apoptosis. *Cancer Res.* 63:6221-8 (2003) PMid: 14559807
- 15. Shen SX, Weaver Z, Xu X, Li C, Weinstein M, Chen L, Guan XY, Ried T, Deng CX. A targeted disruption of the murine Brca1 gene causes gamma-irradiation hypersensitivity and genetic instability. *Oncogene*. 17:3115-24 (1998) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1202243 PMid: 9872327
- Husain A, He G, Venkatraman ES, Spriggs DR. BRCA1 up-regulation is associated with repair-mediated resistance to cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II). *Cancer Res.* 58:1120-3 (1998) PMid: 9515792
- Carey LA. Targeted chemotherapy? Platinum in BRCA1-dysfunctional breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 28:361-3 (2010) DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.24.0838 PMid: 20008634
- Zander SA, Kersbergen A, van der Burg E, de Water N, van Tellingen O, Gunnarsdottir S, Jaspers JE, Pajic M, Nygren AO, Jonkers J, Borst P, Rottenberg S. Sensitivity

and acquired resistance of BRCA1;p53deficient mouse mammary tumors to the topoisomerase I inhibitor topotecan. *Cancer Res.* 70:1700-10 (2010) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3367 PMid: 20145144

- Bhattacharyya A, Ear US, Koller BH, Weichselbaum RR, Bishop DK. The breast cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1 is required for subnuclear assembly of Rad51 and survival following treatment with the DNA cross-linking agent cisplatin. *J Biol Chem.* 275:23899-903 (2000) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.C000276200 PMid: 10843985
- 20. Moynahan ME, Chiu JW, Koller BH, Jasin M. Brca1 controls homology-directed DNA repair. *Mol Cell.* 1999;4:511-8. DOI: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80202-6
- Stefansson OA, Villanueva A, Vidal A, Marti L, Esteller M. BRCA1 epigenetic inactivation predicts sensitivity to platinum-based chemotherapy in breast and ovarian cancer. *Epigenetics*. 7:1225-9 (2012) DOI: 10.4161/epi.22561 PMid: 23069641 PMCid: PMC3499323
- Tassone P, Tagliaferri P, Perricelli A, Blotta S, Quaresima B, Martelli ML, Goel A, Barbieri V, Costanzo F, Boland CR, Venuta S. BRCA1 expression modulates chemosensitivity of BRCA1-defective HCC1937 human breast cancer cells. *Br J Cancer*. 88:1285-91 (2003) DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6600859 PMid: 12698198 PMCid: PMC2747554
- De Luca P, Vazquez ES, Moiola CP, Zalazar F, Cotignola J, Gueron G, Gardner K, De Siervi A. BRCA1 loss induces GADD153-mediated doxorubicin resistance in prostate cancer. *Mol Cancer Res.* 9:1078-90 (2011) DOI: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-11-0155 PMid: 21700680
- 24. Lafarge S, Sylvain V, Ferrara M, Bignon YJ. Inhibition of BRCA1 leads to increased chemoresistance to microtubule-interfering agents, an effect that involves the JNK pathway. *Oncogene.* 20:6597-606 (2001) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1204812 PMid: 11641785
- 25. Fan S, Wang JA, Yuan RQ, Ma YX, Meng Q, Erdos MR, Brody LC, Goldberg ID, Rosen

EM. BRCA1 as a potential human prostate tumor suppressor: modulation of proliferation, damage responses and expression of cell regulatory proteins. *Oncogene.* 16:3069-82 (1998) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1202116 PMid: 9662340

- McGrogan BT, Gilmartin B, Carney DN, McCann A. Taxanes, microtubules and chemoresistant breast cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* 1785:96-132 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2007.10.004
- Wysocki PJ, Korski K, Lamperska K, Zaluski J, Mackiewicz A. Primary resistance to docetaxel-based chemotherapy in metastatic breast cancer patients correlates with a high frequency of BRCA1 mutations. *Med Sci Monit.* 14:SC7-10 (2008) PMid: 18591931
- Stordal B, Pavlakis N, Davey R. A systematic review of platinum and taxane resistance from bench to clinic: an inverse relationship. *Cancer Treat Rev.* 33:688-703 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2007.07.013 PMid: 17881133
- Papadaki C, Tsaroucha E, Kaklamanis L, Lagoudaki E, Trypaki M, Tryfonidis K, Mavroudis D, Stathopoulos E, Georgoulias V, Souglakos J. Correlation of BRCA1, TXR1 and TSP1 mRNA expression with treatment outcome to docetaxel-based first-line chemotherapy in patients with advanced/ metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. *Br J Cancer.* 104:316-23 (2011) DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6606027 PMid: 21157449 PMCid: PMC3031890
- Gilmore PM, McCabe N, Quinn JE, Kennedy RD, Gorski JJ, Andrews HN, McWilliams S, Carty M, Mullan PB, Duprex WP, Liu ET, Johnston PG, Harkin DP. BRCA1 interacts with and is required for paclitaxelinduced activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase 3. *Cancer Res.* 64:4148-54 (2004) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-4080 PMid: 15205325
- 31. Chabalier C, Lamare C, Racca C, Privat M, Valette A, Larminat F. BRCA1 downregulation leads to premature inactivation of spindle checkpoint and confers paclitaxel resistance. *Cell Cycle*. 5:1001-7 (2006)

DOI: 10.4161/cc.5.9.2726 PMid: 16639080

- Fedier A, Schlamminger M, Schwarz VA, Haller U, Howell SB, Fink D. Loss of atm sensitises p53-deficient cells to topoisomerase poisons and antimetabolites. *Ann Oncol.* 14:938-45 (2003) DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdg240 PMid: 12796033
- Wen J, Li R, Lu Y, Shupnik MA. Decreased BRCA1 confers tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer cells by altering estrogen receptor-coregulator interactions. *Oncogene*. 28:575-86 (2009) DOI: 10.1038/onc.2008.405 PMid: 18997820 PMCid: PMC2714665
- Bryant HE, Schultz N, Thomas HD, Parker KM, Flower D, Lopez E, Kyle S, Meuth M, Curtin NJ, Helleday T. Specific killing of BRCA2deficient tumours with inhibitors of poly(ADPribose) polymerase. *Nature*. 434:913-7 (2005) DOI: 10.1038/nature03443 PMid: 15829966
- Farmer H, McCabe N, Lord CJ, Tutt AN, Johnson DA, Richardson TB, Santarosa M, Dillon KJ, Hickson I, Knights C, Martin NM, Jackson SP, Smith GC, Ashworth A. Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy. *Nature*. 434:917-21 (2005) DOI: 10.1038/nature03445 PMid: 15829967
- Hilton JF, Hadfield MJ, Tran MT, Shapiro GI. Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitors as cancer therapy. Front *Biosci (Landmark Ed)*. 18:1392-406 (2013) DOI: 10.2741/4188
- Veeck J, Ropero S, Setien F, Gonzalez-Suarez E, Osorio A, Benitez J, Herman JG, Esteller M. BRCA1 CpG island hypermethylation predicts sensitivity to poly(adenosine diphosphate)ribose polymerase inhibitors. *J Clin Oncol.* 28:e563-4; author reply e5-6 (2010)
- Drew Y, Mulligan EA, Vong WT, Thomas HD, Kahn S, Kyle S, Mukhopadhyay A, Los G, Hostomsky Z, Plummer ER, Edmondson RJ, Curtin NJ. Therapeutic potential of poly(ADPribose) polymerase inhibitor AG014699 in human cancers with mutated or methylated BRCA1 or BRCA2. J Natl Cancer Inst. 103:334-46 (2011)

DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djq509 PMid: 21183737

- 39. Issa JP, Garber JE. Time to think outside the (genetic) box. *Cancer Prev Res* (Phila).
   4:6-8 (2011)
   DOI: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-10-0348
   PMid: 21205738
- Fourquet A, Stoppa-Lyonnet D, Kirova YM, Sigal-Zafrani B, Asselain B. Familial breast cancer: clinical response to induction chemotherapy or radiotherapy related to BRCA1/2 mutations status. *Am J Clin Oncol.* 32:127-31 (2009) DOI: 10.1097/COC.0b013e31817f9e1c PMid: 19307946
- Robson ME, Chappuis PO, Satagopan J, Wong N, Boyd J, Goffin JR, Hudis C, Roberge D, Norton L, Bégin LR, Offit K, Foulkes WD. A combined analysis of outcome following breast cancer: differences in survival based on BRCA1/BRCA2 mutation status and administration of adjuvant treatment. *Breast Cancer Res.* 6:R8-R17 (2004) DOI: 10.1186/bcr658 DOI: 10.1186/bcr750 DOI: 10.1186/bcr827 PMid: 14680495
- 42. Chappuis PO, Goffin J, Wong N, Perret C, Ghadirian P, Tonin PN, Foulkes WD. A significant response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in BRCA1/2 related breast cancer. *J Med Genet.* 39:608-10 (2002) DOI: 10.1136/jmg.39.8.608 PMid: 12161606 PMCid: PMC1735193
- 43. Foulkes WD. BRCA1 and BRCA2: chemosensitivity, treatment outcomes and prognosis. *Fam Cancer.* 5:135-42 (2006) DOI: 10.1007/s10689-005-2832-5 PMid: 16736282
- Cass I, Baldwin RL, Varkey T, Moslehi R, Narod SA, Karlan BY. Improved survival in women with BRCA-associated ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer*. 97:2187-95 (2003) DOI: 10.1002/cncr.11310 PMid: 12712470
- 45. Tan DS, Rothermundt C, Thomas K, Bancroft E, Eeles R, Shanley S, Ardern-Jones A, Norman A, Kaye SB, Gore ME. "BRCAness" syndrome in ovarian cancer: a case-control study describing the clinical features and outcome of patients with epithelial ovarian

cancer associated with BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations. *J Clin Oncol.* 26:5530-6 (2008) DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2008.16.1703 PMid: 18955455

- 46. Fong PC, Boss DS, Yap TA, Tutt A, Wu P, Mergui-Roelvink M, Mortimer P, Swaisland H, Lau A, O'Connor MJ, Ashworth A, Carmichael J, Kaye SB, Schellens JH, de Bono JS. Inhibition of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase in tumors from BRCA mutation carriers. *N Engl J Med.* 361:123-34 (2009) DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0900212 PMid: 19553641
- Catteau A, Harris WH, Xu CF, Solomon E. Methylation of the BRCA1 promoter region in sporadic breast and ovarian cancer: correlation with disease characteristics. *Oncogene*. 18:1957-65 (1999) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1202509 PMid: 10208417
- Magdinier F, Ribieras S, Lenoir GM, Frappart L, Dante R. Down-regulation of BRCA1 in human sporadic breast cancer; analysis of DNA methylation patterns of the putative promoter region. *Oncogene*. 17:3169-76 (1998) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1202248 PMid: 9872332
- 49. Rice JC, Massey-Brown KS, Futscher BW. Aberrant methylation of the BRCA1 CpG island promoter is associated with decreased BRCA1 mRNA in sporadic breast cancer cells. *Oncogene.* 17:1807-12 (1998) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1202086 PMid: 9778046
- Esteller M, Silva JM, Dominguez G, Bonilla F, Matias-Guiu X, Lerma E, Bussaglia E, Prat J, Harkes IC, Repasky EA, Gabrielson E, Schutte M, Baylin SB, Herman JG. Promoter hypermethylation and BRCA1 inactivation in sporadic breast and ovarian tumors. *J Natl Cancer Inst*. 92:564-9 (2000) DOI: 10.1093/jnci/92.7.564 PMid: 10749912
- Grushko TA, Dignam JJ, Das S, Blackwood AM, Perou CM, Ridderstrale KK, Anderson KN, Wei MJ, Adams AJ, Hagos FG, Sveen L, Lynch HT, Weber BL, Olopade OI. MYC is amplified in BRCA1-associated breast cancers. *Clin Cancer Res.* 10:499-507 (2004) DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-0976-03

PMid: 14760071

- Geisler JP, Hatterman-Zogg MA, Rathe JA, Buller RE. Frequency of BRCA1 dysfunction in ovarian cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 94:61-7 (2002) DOI: 10.1093/jnci/94.1.61 PMid: 11773283
- Ibanez de Caceres I, Battagli C, Esteller M, Herman JG, Dulaimi E, Edelson MI, Bergman C, Ehya H, Eisenberg BL, Cairns P. Tumor cell-specific BRCA1 and RASSF1A hypermethylation in serum, plasma, and peritoneal fluid from ovarian cancer patients. *Cancer Res.* 64:6476-81 (2004) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1529 PMid: 15374957
- 54. Bal A, Verma S, Joshi K, Singla A, Thakur R, Arora S, Singh G. BRCA1-methylated sporadic breast cancers are BRCA-like in showing a basal phenotype and absence of ER expression. *Virchows Arch.* 461:305-12 (2012) DOI: 10.1007/s00428-012-1286-z PMid: 22820987
- Krasteva ME, Bozhanov SS, Antov GG, Gospodinova ZI, Angelov SG. Breast cancer patients with hypermethylation in the promoter of BRCA1 gene exhibit favorable clinical status. *Neoplasma*. 2012;59:85-91. DOI: 10.4149/neo\_2012\_011 PMid: 22103901
- 56. Hsu NC, Huang YF, Yokoyama KK, Chu PY, Chen FM, Hou MF. Methylation of BRCA1 promoter region is associated with unfavorable prognosis in women with early-stage breast cancer. *PLoS One.* 8:e56256 (2013) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056256 PMid: 23405268 PMCid: PMC3566056
- Xu Y, Diao L, Chen Y, Liu Y, Wang C, Ouyang T, Li J, Wang T, Fan Z, Fan T, Lin B, Deng D, Narod SA, Xie Y. Promoter methylation of BRCA1 in triple-negative breast cancer predicts sensitivity to adjuvant chemotherapy. *Ann Oncol.* 24:1498-505 (2013) DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdt011 PMid: 23406733
- Ignatov T, Poehlmann A, Ignatov A, Schinlauer A, Costa SD, Roessner A, Kalinski T, Bischoff J. BRCA1 promoter methylation is a marker of better response to anthracycline-based therapy in sporadic TNBC. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* 141:205-12 (2013)

DOI: 10.1007/s10549-013-2693-9 PMid: 24026861

- 59. Kurebayashi J, Yamamoto Y, Kurosumi M, Okubo S, Nomura T, Tanaka K, Sonoo H. Loss of BRCA1 expression may predict shorter time-to-progression in metastatic breast cancer patients treated with taxanes. *Anticancer Res.* 26:695-701 (2006) PMid: 16739340
- 60. Dann RB, DeLoia JA, Timms KM, Zorn KK, Potter J, Flake DD, 2nd, Lanchbury JS, Krivak TC. BRCA1/2 mutations and expression: response to platinum chemotherapy in patients with advanced stage epithelial ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* 125:677-82 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2012.03.006 PMid: 22406760
- Quinn JE, James CR, Stewart GE, Mulligan JM, White P, Chang GK, Mullan PB, Johnston PG, Wilson RH, Harkin DP. BRCA1 mRNA expression levels predict for overall survival in ovarian cancer after chemotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2007;13:7413-20. DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1083 PMid: 18094425
- Carser JE, Quinn JE, Michie CO, O'Brien EJ, McCluggage WG, Maxwell P, Lamers E, Lioe TF, Williams AR, Kennedy RD, Gourley C, Harkin DP. BRCA1 is both a prognostic and predictive biomarker of response to chemotherapy in sporadic epithelial ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* 123:492-8 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2011.08.017 PMid: 21920589
- Lesnock JL, Darcy KM, Tian C, Deloia JA, Thrall MM, Zahn C, Armstrong DK, Birrer MJ, Krivak TC. BRCA1 expression and improved survival in ovarian cancer patients treated with intraperitoneal cisplatin and paclitaxel: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. *Br J Cancer.* 108:1231-7 (2013) DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2013.70 PMid: 23462720 PMCid: PMC3619264
- 64. Sun C, Li N, Yang Z, Zhou B, He Y, Weng D, Fang Y, Wu P, Chen P, Yang X, Ma D, Zhou J, Chen G. miR-9 regulation of BRCA1 and ovarian cancer sensitivity to cisplatin and PARP inhibition. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 105:1750-8 (2013) DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djt302 PMid: 24168967

- Swisher EM, Sakai W, Karlan BY, Wurz K, Urban N, Taniguchi T. Secondary BRCA1 mutations in BRCA1-mutated ovarian carcinomas with platinum resistance. *Cancer Res.* 68:2581-6 (2008) DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0088 PMid: 18413725 PMCid: PMC2674369
- 66. Segev Y, Iqbal J, Lubinski J, Gronwald J, Lynch HT, Moller P, Ghadirian P, Rosen B, Tung N, Kim-Sing C, Foulkes WD, Neuhausen SL, Senter L, Singer CF, Karlan B, Ping S, Narod SA. The incidence of endometrial cancer in women with BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations: an international prospective cohort study. *Gynecol Oncol.* 130:127-31 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2013.04.159 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2013.03.027 PMid: 23562522
- Beiner ME, Finch A, Rosen B, Lubinski J, Moller P, Ghadirian P, Lynch HT, Friedman E, Sun P, Narod SA. The risk of endometrial cancer in women with BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations. A prospective study. *Gynecol Oncol.* 104:7-10 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2006.08.004 PMid: 16962648
- 68. Gitsch G, Friedlander ML, Wain GV, Hacker NF. Uterine papillary serous carcinoma. A clinical study. *Cancer.* 75:2239-43 (1995) DOI: 10.1002/1097-0142(19950501)75:9< 2239:AID-CNCR2820750908>3.0.CO;2-7
- Pennington KP, Walsh T, Lee M, Pennil C, Novetsky AP, Agnew KJ, Thornton A, Garcia R, Mutch D, King MC, Goodfellow P, Swisher EM. BRCA1, TP53, and CHEK2 germline mutations in uterine serous carcinoma. *Cancer*.119:332-8. (2013) DOI: 10.1002/cncr.27720 PMid: 22811390 PMCid: PMC3966566
- Lavie O, Ben-Arie A, Segev Y, Faro J, Barak F, Haya N, Auslender R, Gemer O. BRCA germline mutations in women with uterine serous carcinoma--still a debate. *Int J Gynecol Cancer.* 20:1531-4 (2010) PMid: 21119368
- Bruchim I, Amichay K, Kidron D, Attias Z, Biron-Shental T, Drucker L, Friedman E, Werner H, Fishman A. BRCA1/2 germline mutations in Jewish patients with uterine serous carcinoma. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. 20:1148-53 (2010)

DOI: 10.1111/IGC.0b013e3181ef622d PMid: 21206239

- 72. Biron-Shental T, Drucker L, Altaras M, Bernheim J, Fishman A. High incidence of BRCA1-2 germline mutations, previous breast cancer and familial cancer history in Jewish patients with uterine serous papillary carcinoma. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* 32:1097-100 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2006.03.032 PMid: 16650962
- 73. Beirne JP, Quinn JE, Maxwell P, Kalloger SE, McAlpine J, Gilks CB, Harley IJ, McCluggage WG. BRCA1 immunohistochemical staining as a prognostic indicator in uterine serous carcinoma. *Int J Gynecol Cancer.* 23:113-8 (2013) DOI: 10.1097/IGC.0b013e3182798188 PMid: 23221734
- 74. Qin X, Yao W, Li W, Feng X, Huo X, Yang S, Zhao H, Gu X. ERCC1 and BRCA1 mRNA expressions are associated with clinical outcome of non-small cell lung cancer treated with platinum-based chemotherapy. *Tumour Biol.* 35:4697-704 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s13277-014-1615-8 PMid: 24443257
- Xian-Jun F, Xiu-Guang Q, Li Z, Hui F, Wan-Ling W, Dong L, Ping-Fa L. ERCC1 and BRCA1 mRNA expression predicts the clinical outcome of non-small cell lung cancer receiving platinum-based chemotherapy. *Pak J Med Sci.* 30:488-92 (2014) PMid: 24948964 PMCid: PMC4048491
- 76. Wang L, Wei J, Qian X, Yin H, Zhao Y, Yu L, Wang T, Liu B. ERCC1 and BRCA1 mRNA expression levels in metastatic malignant effusions is associated with chemosensitivity to cisplatin and/or docetaxel. *BMC Cancer*. 8:97 (2008) DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407-8-97 PMid: 18402708 PMCid: PMC2394535
- Yang Y, Xie Y, Xian L. Breast cancer susceptibility gene 1 (BRCA1) predict clinical outcome in platinum- and toxal-based chemotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients: a system review and meta-analysis. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res.*;32:15 (2013)
  DOI: 10.1186/1756-9966-32-15
  PMid: 23497550 PMCid: PMC3610101

- 78. Gao Y, Zhu J, Zhang X, Wu Q, Jiang S, Liu Y, Hu Z, Liu B, Chen X. BRCA1 mRNA expression as a predictive and prognostic marker in advanced esophageal squamous cell carcinoma treated with cisplatin- or docetaxelbased chemotherapy/chemoradiotherapy. *PLoS One.* 8:e52589 (2013) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052589 PMid: 23326344 PMCid: PMC3541365
- 79. Thompson D, Easton DF. Cancer Incidence in BRCA1 mutation carriers. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 94:1358-65 (2002) DOI: 10.1093/jnci/94.18.1358 PMid: 12237281
- Liede A, Karlan BY, Narod SA. Cancer risks for male carriers of germline mutations in BRCA1 or BRCA2: a review of the literature. *J Clin Oncol.* 22:735-42 (2004) DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2004.05.055 PMid: 14966099
- Leongamornlert D, Mahmud N, Tymrakiewicz M, Saunders E, Dadaev T, Castro E, Goh C, Govindasami K, Guy M, O'Brien L, Sawyer E, Hall A, Wilkinson R, Easton D, Goldgar D, Eeles R, Kote-Jarai Z. Germline BRCA1 mutations increase prostate cancer risk. *Br J Cancer.* 106:1697-701 (2012) DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2012.146 PMid: 22516946 PMCid: PMC3349179
- 82. Castro E, Goh C, Olmos D, Saunders E, Leongamornlert D, Tymrakiewicz M, Mahmud N, Dadaev T, Govindasami K, Guy M, Sawyer E, Wilkinson R, Ardern-Jones A, Ellis S, Frost D, Peock S, Evans DG, Tischkowitz M, Cole T, Davidson R, Eccles D, Brewer C, Douglas F. Porteous ME. Donaldson A. Dorkins H. Izatt L, Cook J, Hodgson S, Kennedy MJ, Side LE, Eason J, Murray A, Antoniou AC, Easton DF, Kote-Jarai Z, Eeles R. Germline BRCA mutations are associated with higher risk of nodal involvement, distant metastasis, and poor survival outcomes in prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 31:1748-57 (2013) DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2012.43.1882 PMid: 23569316 PMCid: PMC3641696
- Castro E, Goh C, Leongamornlert D, Saunders E, Tymrakiewicz M, Dadaev T, Govindasami K, Guy M, Ellis S, Frost D, Bancroft E, Cole T, Tischkowitz M, Kennedy MJ, Eason J, Brewer C, Evans DG, Davidson R, Eccles D, Porteous ME, Douglas F, Adlard J, Donaldson

A, Antoniou AC, Kote-Jarai Z, Easton DF, Olmos D, Eeles R. Effect of BRCA Mutations on Metastatic Relapse and Cause-specific Survival After Radical Treatment for Localised Prostate Cancer. *Eur Urol.* (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.eururo.2014.10.022 PMCid: PMC4105321

**Key Words:** BRCA1, Chemotherapy, Cancer, DNA-damage, PARP-inhibitors, Mitotic Inhibitors, Review

**Send correspondence to:** Adriana De Siervi, Laboratorio de Oncologaa Molecular y Nuevos Blancos Terapeuticos, IBYME-CONICET, Vuelta de Obligado 2490, Buenos Aires, Argentina, C1428ADN, Tel: 54 11 4783-2869, Fax: 54 11 4786-2564, E-mail: adrianadesiervi@gmail.com